CODE OF REGULATIONS

OF THE

OHIO SOCCER ASSOCIATION, INC. (Final - 1/1/2020)

Table of Contents

| ARTICLE I NAME | 2 |
|---|----|
| ARTICLE II PURPOSE | 2 |
| ARTICLE III DEFINITIONS | 2 |
| ARTICLE IV MEMBERSHIP | 3 |
| ARTICLE V FEES AND FINANCE | 6 |
| ARTICLE VIII MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS | 10 |
| ARTICLE IX BOARD OF DIRECTORS | 13 |
| ARTICLE X COMMITTEES | 15 |
| ARTICLE XI ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION AND MEETINGS | 16 |
| ARTICLE XII GRIEVANCES, DISPUTES, AND APPEALS | 16 |
| ARTICLE XIII CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER | 17 |
| ARTICLE XIV ADMINISTRATION | 18 |
| ARTICLE XV INDEMNIFICATION | 18 |
| ARTICLE XVI PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY | 19 |
| ARTICLE XVII AMENDMENT OF ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND CODE OF | |
| REGULATIONS | 19 |
| ARTICLE XVIII PREEMPTION OF CODE OF REGULATIONS | 19 |

| 1 | | CODE OF REGULATIONS |
|---------------------------------|---------|--|
| 2 | | OF THE |
| 3 | | OHIO SOCCER ASSOCIATION, INC. |
| 4 | | ADTICLE |
| 5 | | ARTICLE I |
| 6 7 | | NAME |
| 8 | Thico | rganization will be known as the Ohio Soccer Association, Inc., a non-profit |
| 9 | | zation incorporated under the laws of the State of Ohio (hereinafter referred to as |
| 10 | "OSA" | |
| 11 | 0511 |)• - |
| 12 | | ARTICLE II |
| 13 | | PURPOSE |
| 14 | | |
| 15 | The pu | irposes for which OSA is formed and for which it shall exist is to be organized and |
| 16 | • | red exclusively for religious, charitable and educational purposes within the |
| 17 | _ | ng of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and as stated in the |
| 18 | Article | es of Incorporation of OSA and OSA is a state association member of the United |
| 19 | | Soccer Federation, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Federation") and the United |
| 20 | States | Youth Soccer Association, Inc. (hereinafter referred to "USYSA"). |
| 21 | | |
| 22 | | ARTICLE III |
| 23 | | DEFINITIONS |
| 2425 | Section | n 1. The following definitions apply to these Code of Regulations ("Regulations") |
| 26 | | ay also be used in plural form: |
| 27 | | "Adult Player" means an individual who is an amateur player and who has reached |
| 28 | | 20 years of age prior to December 31 for the current seasonal year. |
| 29 | | |
| 30 | В. | "Amateur Sports Act" means the Ted Stephens Olympic and Amateur Sports Act |
| 31 | | (chapter 2205 of title 36, United States Code). |
| 32 | | |
| 33 | C. | "Annual Membership Fee" means the annual member organization fee for full and |
| 34 | | associate members. |
| 35 | | |
| 36 | D. | "Board of Directors" means the board of directors as established under Article IX. |
| 37 | _ | "GTO" |
| 38 | E. | "CEO" means the Chief Executive Officer of OSA as provided in Article XIII. |
| 39 | F | "Clark" |
| 40 | r. | "Club" means an organization of one or more soccer teams usually playing within a |
| 41 42 | | geographic region and/or participating in intra-club competition. |
| 42 | c | "District" means a geographic subdivision of the state, which will be represented |
| 44 | u. | by a Director on the Board. |
| 45 | | of a Director on the Doural |

46 H. "League" means an organization club/teams participating in inter-club/team 47 competition. 48 49 **I.** "Federation" means the United States Soccer Federation, Inc. 50 51 I. "FIFA" means the Federation Internationale de Football Association of which the 52 Federation is the national association member for the United States. 53 54 K. "Member" means an organization or individual having membership rights and 55 privileges specifically provided under and in accordance with the Articles of 56 Incorporation or these Regulations as provided under Article IV. 57 58 **L. "OSA"** means the Ohio Soccer Association, Inc. 59 60 M. "Participant" means any player, coach, trainer, manager, administrator, or official that is sponsored, financed, coached, organized, or administered by a Member. 61 62 63 N. "Player" means an individual who is an amateur player and who has not reached 20 years of age prior to December 31 for the current seasonal year. 64 65 **O.** "Player Registration Fee" means the fees payable to OSA as provided in these 66 67 Regulations, and once per seasonal year for each individual player to the Federation and USYSA as provided in Federation Bylaw 214.1 and Article XI.2G. of the USYSA 68 69 Bylaws. 70 71 **P.** "Team" means a group of soccer players playing on the same side in soccer games. 72 **Q.** "USOC" means the United States Olympic Committee that is the corporation 73 74 established under the Amateur Sports Act to oversee all amateur athletic activity in 75 the United States. 76 77 **R.** "USYSA" means the United States Youth Soccer Association, Inc. 78 79 **Section 2.** Except as otherwise provided, these definitions apply to these Regulations and

80 81 82

83

8485

86

87

88

89

ARTICLE IV MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. Eligibility.

all policies of OSA.

A. The membership of OSA is open to all soccer organizations, other organizations interested in the administration and operation of youth sports, and all soccer players, coaches, trainers, managers, administrators, and officials without discrimination as defined by Federation Bylaw 105.

B. Membership in OSA shall be organizations or individuals interested in advancing soccer within Ohio. Such organizations or individuals may apply for affiliation with OSA.

Section 2. Authority.

 A. The governing authority of OSA will be vested in the membership and the Board of Directors as provided in these Regulations and the Articles of Incorporation.

B. Each member organization or individual shall recognize the authority, rulings, Articles of Incorporation, Regulations, Bylaws, Policies, and Rules of OSA, USYSA, and the Federation.

Section 3. Categories. OSA shall have the following membership categories:

A. Full Members. Full Members are voting members of OSA who are domiciled and operating within the legal boundaries of the State of Ohio. Only soccer organizations, including, but not limited to, clubs, leagues, or associations, which directly register players, form teams, and coordinate competition between teams are eligible. Full Members shall have those voting right specifically provided under these Regulations and shall have no vote on any other matters.

B. Associate Members. To qualify for associate membership, an organization may be formed to advance a particular aspect of soccer, subject to all requirements in this Article IV. Section 4.

C. Affiliate Members. An individual or an organization not fitting the Full or Associate Member category as provided by this Article, may be an affiliate member of OSA for one year upon completing an affiliate member application form, paying a yearly membership fee to OSA, and complying with requirements established by the Board of Directors.

D. Individual Members. An individual who is a player, coach, referee, or administrator is an individual member of OSA:

 1. through that individual's membership or association with an organization member;

2. if the individual occupies an unpaid administrative position within OSA;

3. contributes to OSA as a volunteer; or

4. as a committee member of OSA.

Section 4. Admission to Membership.

A. Membership in OSA will be member organizations or individuals interested in advancing soccer within Ohio. Such organizations or individuals may apply for membership with OSA.

- **B.** The Board of Directors of OSA will determine all requirements for membership in OSA.

- **C.** To become a Member of OSA, an applicant must submit a written application for membership to the CEO, for approval as provided by this Article IV, Section 4, which includes the following:
 - 1. the classification of membership being applied for; and

2. copies of its charter, articles of incorporation, bylaws, rules, regulations, any rules of play, and other governing documents appropriate to understanding the structure and activities of the organization.

- **D.** Membership may be granted by the Board of Directors as follows:
 - 1. The Board of Directors may grant to, deny or withdraw membership.

2. An applicant granted membership has all the rights and responsibilities of that classification of Member granted except that an Associate, Affiliate, or Individual Member may not vote.

3. Membership shall be granted by the Board of Directors on determination that the applicant has met all requirements for membership as provided in this Article IV, Section 4.C.2 and all other OSA requirements.

Section 5. Good Standing. The term of membership is for one seasonal year. However, if the Member is admitted and the membership is effective before the beginning of the next seasonal year, the initial term of membership for that Member is for the balance of the seasonal year. Membership automatically renews each seasonal year as long as the Member remains in good standing with OSA, which includes:

A. the Member being current with all dues, fees, and assessments owed;

B. having on file with OSA a copy of the Member's articles or certificate of incorporation, bylaws, rules and regulations, and any amendments to those documents;

C. registering all players, referees, coaches, assistant coaches, team managers, organization officers, directors, and any other individuals in a timely manner as established by the Board of Directors;

D. must follow all other such rules or procedures as the Board of Directors may direct; and

E. if a Member fails to meet any of these qualifications, the Board of Directors may suspend, fine, dismiss, or impose any other penalty on the Member subject to the provisions of these Regulations.

Section 6. Reinstatement. A suspended Member of OSA may submit a written request for reinstatement. The Board of Directors may reinstate the membership of a suspended Member on reasonable terms that the Board of Directors considers appropriate.
Section 7. Resignation. Any Member may resign by giving written notice to the Board of Directors at the office of OSA. The resignation will take effect at the time specified therein or immediately if no time is specified. Unless specified therein, the acceptance of such

ARTICLE V FEES AND FINANCE

resignation will not be necessary to make it effective. No Annual Membership Fee shall be

Section 1. Membership Fees. The Board of Directors shall establish the amount and due date of the Annual Membership Fee for full and associate members and the player registration fee, which may include any annual player registration fees as required by USYSA or the Federation.

Section 2. Failure to Pay Fees. Any Member failing to pay any fees due OSA shall be provided written notice of the delinquency. If those fees are not paid within fifteen (15) days after the date of the notice of delinquency, the delinquent Member may be suspended from membership in OSA in accordance with these Regulations.

Section 3. Budget. The Board of Directors shall cause an annual budget to be prepared for distribution to the membership.

Section 4. Audit. The OSA financial records will be audited every third (3rd) year. This audit shall be accomplished by independent auditor. The audit shall include all records and require the submission of a written report and recommendations. The CEO shall distribute the audit to the Board of Directors and all Members.

Section 5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year shall be as determined by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Section 1. Officers and Directors.

refunded upon a resignation of a Member.

A. There shall be two officers elected by the membership in statewide elections who shall be the President and Vice President of OSA.

 B. There shall be seven (7) District Directors, one elected from each of the designated seven (7) OSA districts.

C. There shall be two (2) independent directors as provided under Article VIII.

- Section 2. Qualifications of Elected Officers and Directors. The candidates for elected office shall: **A.** be in good standing with OSA; and **B.** not be a paid employee of OSA Section 3. Qualifications of Appointed Directors. The appointed directors shall: **A.** be appointed by a majority of the elected Directors as provided under Article VII; **B.** provide subject matter expertise; **C.** enhance the professionalism and credibility of OSA; **D.** may be reappointed; **E.** serve a two year term, unless removed or resign; and **F.** may not be a paid employee of OSA. Section 4. Term of Office. **A.** An elected officer or director will serve for a period of three (3) years and, (except as otherwise noted herein), and may succeed themselves. Directors may serve a maximum of two (2) full three (3) year terms in succession. If after a break of at least 12 months, they may be elected or appointed to the board of directors. If when filling a vacancy, the partial term does not count toward the maximum of two (2) full three (3) year terms.
 - **B.** Officers and Directors shall assume office at the close of the Annual General Meeting at which they are elected. If the individual is fulfilling a vacancy, the term of office begins immediately after being elected or appointed to fill the vacancy.
 - **C.** Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Code of Regulations, no person shall serve on the OSA Board of Directors, in any capacity, for more than 12 years consecutively without a break in service of at least 1 year. This paragraph shall supersede all other sections of this Code of Regulations.

Section 5. Duties of Officers and Directors. The officers and directors shall perform the duties provided in this section and such other duties as are prescribed for the office in these Regulations, by the Board of Directors, or in the adopted parliamentary authority.

- **A. Duties of the President.** The President:
 - shall serve as chair of all meetings of the membership and of the Board of Directors;
 - 2. may execute instruments for OSA that the Board of Directors authorizes to be executed;

(October 1, 2020 Final)

| 272 | | 3. | will oversee the activities of the CEO and act as the liaison between the Board of |
|------------|---------|-----|---|
| 273 274 | | | Directors and the CEO; |
| 275 | | 4. | shall perform other responsibilities assigned by the Board of Directors; and |
| 276 277 | | 5. | is an officer. |
| 278 | | | |
| 279 | В. | | ities of the Vice President. The Vice President: |
| 280 281 | | 1. | shall assist the President; |
| 282 | | 2. | assume the responsibilities of the President when the President is absent, |
| 283 | | | cannot act, or refuses to act; |
| 284 | | | |
| 285 | | 3. | will perform other responsibilities assigned by the Board of Directors or the |
| 286 | | | President; and |
| 287 | | | |
| 288 | | 4. | is an officer. |
| 289 | | | |
| 290 | C. | | ities of the District Directors. The district directors shall: |
| 291 | | 1. | promote soccer and OSA; |
| 292 | | _ | |
| 293 | | 2. | represent the membership on matters of interest or concern; and |
| 294 | | 2 | of an alternative with the second of Directors and a |
| 295 | | 3. | perform other responsibilities as assigned by the Board of Directors or the |
| 296 | | | President. |
| 297 298 | D | Di | ities of the Independent Directors. The Independent Directors shall: |
| 299 | D. | | promote soccer and OSA; |
| 300 | | 1. | promote societ and our, |
| 301 | | 2. | understand and apply the requirements outlined in the Federation and USYSA |
| 302 | | | Bylaws and policies and procedures; and |
| 303 | | | |
| 304 | | 3. | perform other responsibilities as assigned by the Board of Directors or the |
| 305 | | | President. |
| 306 | | | |
| 307 | Section | n 6 | . Removal from Office. |
| 308 | A. | Di | rectors and officers may be removed with or without cause, from an office or the |
| 309 | | Во | ard of Directors by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of those present and voting at a |
| 310 | | | eeting of the Board of Directors, provided the officer or director was given thirty |
| 311 | | (3) | 0) days' notice of such contemplated action. |
| 312 | | | |
| 313 | В. | | member of the Board of Directors who does not attend three (3) consecutive |
| 314 | | me | eetings of the Board of Directors may be removed by a majority of the Board of |

Directors provided the officer or director was given thirty (30) days' notice of such contemplated action, unless such absences are excused by the President.

- **C.** Any member of the Board of Directors or an officer may resign by giving written notice to the Board of Directors. The resignation will take effect at the time specified therein or immediately if no time is specified. Unless specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation will not be necessary to make it effective.
- **D.** Upon removal or resignation of an officer of a member of the Board of Directors under this subsection, if the individual resigning is both an officer and a member of the Board of Directors, such person shall be removed or the resignation shall apply to both positions.

Section 7. Vacancy in Elected Office.

- **A.** If the office of President becomes vacant for any reason, the Vice President shall become the President for the balance of the term.
- **B.** If the office of any other officer or director becomes vacant for any reason, the President shall appoint an individual, subject to approval by the Board of Directors, until the next membership meeting. Any individual appointed to fill a vacancy of a District Director must have home residency established in that same district. At that meeting, an election shall be held to elect to fill the balance of the vacant term.
- **C.** However, if a vacancy is caused by an election during a membership meeting, the election to fill the vacancy for the balance of the term shall occur during that meeting.

Section 8. Election of Secretary and Treasurer.

- **A.** At the first meeting of the Board of Directors following the Annual General Meeting, the election of officers for the positions of Secretary and Treasurer shall be held. These positions may be filled by any of the eleven (11) voting members of the board of directors.
- **B.** If no member of the Board of Directors is elected to the position of Secretary, the person holding the position of President shall accept the duties and responsibilities of Secretary.
- **C.** If no member of the Board of Directors is elected to the position of Treasurer, the person holding the position of Vice President shall accept the duties and responsibilities of Treasurer.

ARTICLE VII ELECTIONS

Section 1. Nominations from the Floor. Nominations from the floor are not allowed, unless there are no candidates for an office, either as Statewide Officer or as District Director, to be elected.

Section 2. Elections of Statewide Officers.

- **A.** At the Annual General Meeting, a statewide election for the office of President shall be held at three (3) year intervals. To be qualified to hold the position of President of OSA, the person must have previously served on the board directors of an USYSA State Association for a minimum for 2 years.
- **B.** At the Annual General Meeting, a statewide election for the office of Vice President shall be held at three (3) year intervals. To be qualified to hold the position of Vice President of OSA, the person must have previously served on the board directors of an USYSA State Association for a minimum for 2 years.
- **C.** The election of the President and Vice President should not occur at the same Annual General Meeting.
- **D.** If a statewide election for either the office of President or Vice President is conducted during any meeting of the membership that election shall always take place prior to the election of District Directors.
- **E.** A person may hold the position of President or Vice President for a maximum of six (6) consecutive years. They may serve as president for six (6) years and then Vice President for six (6) years or vice versa.

Section 3. Elections of District Directors.

- **A.** At an Annual General Meeting, no more than three (3) District Directors are elected, except as provided in of Article VI, Section 7.B.
- **B.** Each district director shall be elected by majority vote of those Full Members eligible to vote their respective district director.
- **Section 4. Simultaneous Positions**. No person may hold more than one position on the Board of Directors at any one time. The only exceptions to this Regulation shall be the President may also serve as Secretary and the Vice President may also serve as Treasurer.
- **Section 5. Prior Notice.** Any individual seeking an elected position on the Board of Directors shall submit notice to OSA on an approved form at least 30 days prior to the Annual General Meeting.

ARTICLE VIII MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS

- **Section 1. Annual General Meeting.** Annual general meetings of the Members of OSA shall be held between December 1 and May 31, at a time and place determined by the Board of Directors.
 - **A. Notice of Meeting.** OSA shall provide to each organization Member and the Board of Directors:

- 1. no more than ninety (90) days but no fewer than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting, notice of the annual general meeting, giving the date, time, and location of the meeting; and
 - 2. at least fifteen (15) days before the date of the meeting, a proposed agenda with copies of reports of officers and any items proposed to be considered at the meeting.
- **B. Business Items.** Any business item (other than proposed amendments to the Articles of Incorporation or the Code of Regulations of OSA) to be presented at an Annual General Meeting must be submitted in writing to OSA at least sixty (60) days before the meeting. Business items may be submitted by (1) a Full Member (2) the Board of Directors; (3) a member of the Board of Directors; (4) the CEO; or (5) a committee of OSA.

C. Voting Body.

409

410

411 412 413

414 415

416 417

418 419

420

421

422

423 424

425

426

427

428 429 430

431 432

433 434

435

- 1. Each Full Member shall have the right to vote for the election of President, Vice President, and District Directors. The voting rights of a Full Member shall be through one or more representatives designated in writing by the governing authority of the Member.
- 2. The number of votes of the Full Member shall be determined based upon the number of players who have paid player registration fees as provided under Article V, Section 1, in the prior seasonal year.
- 3. Full Members shall have the number of votes as provided:

436 Club League 437 a. 1 – 49 players – 1 vote. 1 – 99 players – 1 vote 438 b. 50 – 99 players – 2 votes. 100 – 199 players – 2 votes. 439 c. 100 – 149 players – 3 votes. 200 – 499 players – 3 votes. 440 d. 150 – 199 players – 4 votes. 500 – 999 players – 4 votes. 441 e. 200 – 249 players – 5 votes. 1,000 – 1,499 players – 5 votes. 442 f. 250 – 349 players – 6 votes. 1,500 – 1,999 players – 6 votes g. 350 – 499 players – 7 votes. 2,000 - 2,499 players - 7 votes. 443 h. 500 – 999 players – 8 votes. 2,500 – 2,999 players – 8 votes. 444 445 i. 1,000 – 1,499 players – 9 votes. 3,000 – 3,499 players – 9 votes. 446 j. 1,500 – 2,499 players – 10 votes. 3,500 – 3,999 players – 10 votes. k. 2,500 – 3,499 – 11 votes. 447 4,000 – 4,499 players – 11 votes. 448 l. 3,500 – 4,499 – 12 votes. 4,500 – 4,999 players - 12 votes. 449 m. 4,500 – 5,499 – 13 votes. 5,000 - 5,499 players - 13 votes. 450 n. 5,500 - 6,499 - 14 votes. 5,500 – 5,999 players - 14 votes. 6,000 - 6,999 players - 15 votes. 451 o. 6,500 – 7,499 – 15 votes. 452 p. 7,500 – 8,499 – 16 votes. q. 8,500 – 9,499 – 17 votes. 453

- 454 r. 9,500 10,499 18 votes.
 - s. 10,500 11,499 19 votes.
 - t. 11,500 12,499 20 votes.
 - u. League 1 vote per each additional 1,000 players above 12,500 players.
 - v. Club 1 vote per each additional 1,000 players above 7,000 players.

3. To determine the number of votes authorized for a particular Club for district voting purposes, the total number of authorized statewide votes for that club are to be divided proportionately between the various OSA districts based upon where members of that Club reside. Where these proportional divisions create fractional shares of a vote, less than 0.5 of a vote is to be rounded down and more than 0.5 of a vote is to be rounded up.

4. To determine the number of votes authorized a particular League for district voting purposes, the total number of authorized statewide votes for that League are to be divided proportionately between the various OSA districts based upon where players in that league reside. Where these proportional divisions create fractional shares of a vote, less than 0.5 of a vote is to be rounded down and more than 0.5 of a vote is to be rounded up.

 5. Each member of the Board of Directors, except the individual chairing a meeting of the Members, is entitled to one vote each at meetings of the Members. The individual who is chairing a meeting of the Members may vote only when the vote is by ballot or, in all other cases, to affect the result of the vote.

6. Each Member, in good standing, shall register its primary and alternate delegates to the Annual General Meeting with the state office no later than thirty (30) days prior to the meeting. A Full Member may not designate as a delegate a member of the Board of Directors.

7. A delegate may cast the votes of a Member at the Annual General Meeting. A delegate of a Full Member must be an officer, director, or senior executive of the member.

8. Any Full Member that fails to pay the Annual Membership Fee, the annual player registration fee as provided under Article V, Section 1, or both in the prior or current seasonal year, shall lose their right to vote at the Annual General Meeting. To be eligible to vote, full payment must be received in the OSA state office at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Annual General Meeting.

9. There shall be no votes accepted by proxy.

D. Quorum. A quorum for any membership meeting shall be twenty-five percent (25%) of the number of votes of all Members as set forth under Article VIII, Section C.3.

Section 2. Special Meetings.

- **A.** A special meeting of OSA may be called at any time by the President, a majority of the Board of Directors, or on the request of one-fourth (1/4) of Full Members eligible to vote.
- **B.** Notice of a special meeting shall be provided no less than thirty (30) days prior to the meeting and shall state the place, day and hour of the meeting as well as the purpose or purposes, limited to those issues that Full Members have voting rights under these Regulations.
- **C.** Each Member, in good standing, shall register its primary and alternate delegates to any Special Meeting with the state office no later than fifteen (15) days prior to the meeting. If a primary and/or alternate delegate is not registered for the Special Meeting, the primary and/or alternate delegate from the last previous Annual General Meeting or Special Meeting will be recognized as the true representative of the Full Member.
- **D.** The procedural clause in this Article VIII, Section 1.C., applies to Special Meetings.

Section 3. Cancellation. In the event of a national or local emergency, the Board of Directors may cancel a meeting of OSA by mail or electronic communication.

ARTICLE IX BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Composition and Number. The number of the members of the Board of Directors shall be 11 voting members and 1 non-voting member as follows:

- **A.** Two (2) Officers, the president and the vice president;
- **B.** Seven (7) District Directors;
- **C.** Two (2) Independent Directors; and
- **D.** One CEO, non-voting.

Section 2. Duties of the Board of Directors. Except for voting rights specifically granted to the Members in these Regulations, all of the authority of OSA shall be exercised by or under the direction of the Board of Directors. Without limiting the foregoing, the Board of Directors shall have general supervision and charge of the property, affairs, and finances of OSA, and shall be responsible to:

- **A.** Adopt, rescind or amend the policies as necessary for effective and efficient operation of OSA;
- **B.** enforce the Regulations, rules, policies, and procedures of OSA;
- **C.** approve a budget for each fiscal year to be distributed to the membership;

- **D.** establish membership requirements for each category of membership;
 - **E.** adopt the report of the auditor when applicable;
- **F.** approve the place, date, and time of meetings as prescribed in these Regulations;
 - **G.** establish the Annual Membership Fee and the annual player registration fee as provided under Article V, Section 1;
 - **H.** approve, by a two-thirds (2/3's) majority vote of the Board of Directors, the geographic divisions, called Districts, within the state of Ohio as recommended by the CEO.
 - I. approve the employment and compensation of the CEO; and
 - **J.** exercise such other duties as prescribed for the Board of Directors in these Regulations, by the membership, in the OSA policies and procedures, or in the adopted parliamentary authority.

Section 3. Meetings.

- **A.** Regular Meetings. The Board of Directors should hold at least four (4) regular meetings, once per each calendar quarter. The President shall establish the time, place, and location of the meetings. Notice of a regular meeting must be given at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the meeting.
- **B.** Special Meetings. The Board of Directors may hold special meetings called by the President or by any three (3) members of the Board of Directors. Notice of a special meeting shall be provided to all members of the Board of Directors not less than five (5) days prior to the date of the meeting.
- **Section 4. E-Mail Votes by Board of Directors.** Specific motions, when made and seconded, may be voted on via e-mail. For such a motion to be adopted, 100% of all current members of the Board of Directors must vote to accept the motion before the motion can be adopted. All standard voting procedures contained within this Code of Regulations shall apply. Other means of communications if authorized by Ohio Revised Code shall also be permitted.
- **Section 5. Voting.** Each voting member of the Board of Directors shall have one vote, except that the individual presiding at a Board of Directors meeting may vote only when the vote is by ballot or, in any other case, to affect the result of the vote. On all matters, a simple majority is needed to pass a motion unless a higher threshold is specified in the Code of Regulations or OSA policies.
- **Section 6. Quorum.** A quorum for any Board of Directors meeting shall be a majority of the voting members of the Board of Directors.

Section 7. Proxies. Proxies are not permitted at meetings of the Board of Directors.

Section 8. Conflicts of Interest. Directors shall disclose any possible conflict of interest at the earliest practical time. Each Director shall annually complete and sign a disclosure form to the Board. Furthermore, a Director who has disclosed a conflict of interest shall not participate in discussions of, and shall abstain from voting on, any pertinent matter under consideration by the Board. The minutes of these meetings shall reflect that a disclosure was made and that the Director having a conflict or possible conflict of interest abstained from voting. Any Director who is uncertain whether a conflict of interest may exist in any matter may request that the Board resolve the question in his or her absence by majority vote.

ARTICLE X COMMITTEES

- **Section 1. Standing Committees.** OSA shall have the following standing committees:
 - **A.** Governance Committee;

B. Finance Committee; and

C. Compensation Committee.

Board of Directors.

Section 2. Duties of Standing Committees. Except as otherwise provided in these Regulations, the president and CEO shall prescribe the responsibilities of any standing committee with the approval of the Board of Directors.

A. Each standing committee shall consist of a minimum of three (3) members.

Section 3. Composition of Standing Committees.

B. The President shall appoint the Chair and members of the Governance Committee, Finance Committee, and the Compensation Committee with the approval of the

C. Members of the Governance Committee, Finance Committee, and the Compensation Committee shall be appointed annually and may be reappointed.

D. At least one member of the Governance Committee, Finance Committee, and the Compensation Committee shall be from the Board of Directors. The President may appoint a member of the Board of Directors to any other committee.

Section 4. Special Committees. Subject to approval of the Board of Directors, the president, CEO, or both may establish special committees, appoint the members and Chair of each of those committees, and prescribe the responsibilities of each.

Section 5. Restriction. No member of a committee may receive compensation (except reimbursement for expenses) for services performed as a committee member.

| 637 | | | | |
|-----|--|--|--|--|
| 638 | Section 6. Conflicts of Interest. All members of all committees shall resolve conflicts of | | | |
| 639 | intere | sts as per Article IX, Section 8. | | |
| 640 | | | | |
| 641 | | ARTICLE XI | | |
| 642 | | ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION AND MEETINGS | | |
| 643 | | | | |
| 644 | Section | n 1. Meetings. The Board of Directors, all committees, and the membership may | | |
| 645 | meet and may vote on matters by and through authorized communications equipment so | | | |
| 646 | long as all the members can contemporaneously hear each other, participate during the | | | |
| 647 | meetii | ng, be included in all communications media, and a quorum is established. | | |
| 648 | | | | |
| 649 | Section | n 2. Communication. Unless members indicate otherwise to OSA, all | | |
| 650 | comm | unication required in these Regulations, including meeting notices, may be sent | | |
| 651 | electronically to the last electronic or physical address provided by the Member. | | | |
| 652 | | | | |
| 653 | | ARTICLE XII | | |
| 654 | | GRIEVANCES, DISPUTES, AND APPEALS | | |
| 655 | | | | |
| 656 | Section | n 1. General Requirements. | | |
| 657 | A. | OSA and its Members will provide equitable and prompt hearing and appeal | | |
| 658 | | procedures to guarantee the rights of individuals to participate and compete. Those | | |
| 659 | | procedures shall include that all grievances involving the right to participate and | | |
| 660 | | compete in activities sponsored by OSA, USYSA, and the Federation may be appealed | | |
| 661 | | to the respective organization. | | |
| 662 | | | | |
| 663 | В. | Each Member shall have grievances, disputes, and appeals provisions in its bylaws, | | |
| 664 | | rules, or other documents that clearly state the procedures under which | | |
| 665 | | adjudication of appeals and other disciplinary matters shall occur. | | |
| 666 | | | | |
| 667 | | n 2. Appeals. | | |
| 668 | A. | Except as otherwise provided by Federation Bylaw 705 or other Federation bylaw | | |
| 669 | | or policy, appeals of OSA matters shall be as provided by the Board of Directors. | | |
| 670 | | | | |
| 671 | В. | The Board of Directors shall prescribe a policy to carry out this Bylaw. | | |
| 672 | | | | |
| 673 | | | | |

Section 3. Exhaustion of Remedies.

- **A.** No member of OSA, official, league, club, team, player, coach, administrator or referee may invoke the aid of the courts of the United States or of a state without first exhausting all available remedies within the appropriate soccer organizations, and as provided within USYSA and the Federation.
- **B.** For a violation of this Bylaw, the offending party shall be subject to suspension and fines, and shall be liable to OSA for all expenses incurred by OSA and its officers and members of the Board of Directors in defending each court action, including the following:
 - 1. court costs;
 - 2. attorney's fees;
 - 3. reasonable compensation for time spent by OSA officials and employees in responding to and defending against allegations in the action, including responses to discovery and court appearances;
 - 4. travel expenses; and
 - 5. expenses for holding special meetings necessitated by court action.

ARTICLE XIII CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Section 1. Appointment. The CEO shall be appointed by the President subject to the approval of the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Duties. The conduct of business and the management of affairs of OSA shall be under the direction of the CEO.

- **A. Accountability.** The CEO shall report to the President.
- **B. Duties.** The CEO shall:
 - 1. be responsible for the complete management of the operations of OSA;
 - 2. be responsible for the employment of such personnel as required to carry out the operations of OSA provided that such employment falls within the constraints established by the budget and personnel policies approved by the Board of Directors;
 - 3. establish committees and committee members as needed, in consultation with the President and in accordance with the provisions of these Regulations;
 - 4. serve as a member of all committees, except the compensation committee and

5. perform such other duties as may be stated in these Regulations and other OSA governing documents, the policies and procedures, the personnel policies approved by the Board of Directors, and as may be directed by the President or the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XIV ADMINISTRATION

Section 1. Seasonal Year. The seasonal year shall be from September 1 through August 31.

Section 2. Accounts, Books, and Records. OSA shall maintain adequate and correct accounts, books, and records of its business and properties and retained at the office of OSA. All accounts, books, and records of OSA are open for inspection by members of the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Suspensions. Suspensions or other disciplinary actions imposed by USYSA or the Federation, in accordance with their respective Bylaws, shall be recognized by OSA and its member organizations upon notification by USYSA or the Federation. Suspensions and other disciplinary actions taken by members of USYSA, and the Federation, shall be recognized by OSA and its member organizations upon proper notification to OSA and its member organizations that the party subject to the action received hearing and procedural rights substantially similar to those set forth in the USYSA and the Federation Bylaws.

Section 4. Saving Clause. If any word, phrase, sentence, or other provision of these Regulations or its application to any person or circumstances is held invalid, this finding shall not affect the other words, phrases, clauses, sentences, or provisions or applications of these Regulations, and to this end, the provisions of these Regulations are declared to be severable. In the event that any provision of the articles of incorporation, regulations, policies, procedures, or rules shall be deemed in illegal or contrary to or amended by the Federation or USYSA such portions shall be changed administratively.

ARTICLE XV INDEMNIFICATION

 Section 1. Each officer, director, agent, employee or volunteer of OSA shall be indemnified by OSA under the standards set by and to the fullest extent allowable under Section 1702.12(E), Ohio Revised Code, as the same and shall be amended from time to time; provided that, such person acted in a manner he/she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interest of OSA and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his/her conduct was unlawful..

Section 2. The foregoing right of indemnification shall be in addition to any other rights to which any person seeking indemnification may be or become entitled by law, vote of disinterested Directors of this Corporation or otherwise.

| 765 | ARTICLE XVI |
|------------|--|
| 766 | PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY |
| 767 | |
| 768 | The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised shall |
| 769 | guide OSA in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent |
| 770 | with these Regulations and any special rules of order that OSA may adopt. |
| 771 | |
| 772 | ARTICLE XVII |
| 773 | AMENDMENT OF ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION |
| 774 | AND CODE OF REGULATIONS |
| 775 776 | Section 1 Dronging Amondments Any proposed amondment to the Articles of |
| 770 777 | Section 1. Proposing Amendments. Any proposed amendment to the Articles of Incorporation or the Regulations of OSA may be made by: (1) a Full Member; (2) the Board |
| 778 | of Directors; (3) a member of the Board of Directors; (4) the CEO; or (5) a committee of |
| 779 | OSA. |
| 780 | OJI. |
| 781 | Section 2. Advance Notice. |
| 782 | A. Any proposed amendment to the articles of incorporation or the Regulations of OSA |
| 783 | must be submitted in writing to the CEO at least sixty (60) days in advance of a |
| 784 | meeting at which the amendment is to be considered by no later than 4:00 p.m. |
| 785 | Eastern Standard Time. |
| 786 | |
| 787 | B. Each proposed amendment received in compliance with this Article XVII, Section 2A |
| 788 | shall be sent in writing by OSA to each member and the Board of Directors at least |
| 789 | thirty (30) days in advance of the meeting at which the amendment is to be |
| 790 | considered. |
| 791 | Cartina 2 Matina Damainanant Assaultant da A |
| 792 | Section 3. Voting Requirement. Any amendment to the Articles of Incorporation or the |
| 793 704 | Regulations of OSA requires a two-thirds, (2/3's) vote of the voting interests present at any |
| 794 795 | meeting of the membership of OSA. |
| 796 | Section 4. Priority. In the event of a conflict between the Articles of Incorporation and the |
| 797 | Regulations of OSA and the Articles of Incorporation, bylaws, policies, and requirements of |
| 798 | the Federation, the articles, bylaws, policies, and requirements of the Federation govern. |
| 799 | are reacration, the articles, sylams, ponoles, and requirements of the reacration govern |
| 800 | Section 5. Effective Date. Unless otherwise provided, any amendment to the Code of |
| 801 | Regulations of OSA is effective on conclusion of the meeting in which the amendment is |
| 802 | adopted. |
| 803 | |
| 804 | ARTICLE XVIII |
| 805 | PREEMPTION OF CODE OF REGULATIONS |
| 806 | |

Until July 1, 2021, the terms of the Merger Agreement entered into between the Ohio South Youth Soccer Association and Ohio Youth Soccer Association - North, Inc., dated as of ____,

2020 (the "Merger Agreement"), will supersede these Regulations and shall apply to such

(October 1, 2020 Final)

807

808

810 Members as applicable to the extent a conflict exists between these Regulations and the 811 Merger Agreement. 812 813 ARTICLE XIX 814 **DISSOLUTION** 815 816 **Section 1.** A two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors followed by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the full voting membership of OSA present at a membership meeting, either 817 818 an Annual General Meeting or a Special Meeting, shall be required to dissolve the 819 corporation. 820 821 **Section 2.** Upon the dissolution of OSA, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making 822 provision for the payment of all the liabilities of OSA, distribute the remaining assets in 823 furtherance of one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or the corresponding section of any future federal tax code. Any such assets not 824 825 disposed of shall be disposed of by the Court of Common Pleas of the county in which the principal office of OSA is then located, exclusively for such purposes or to such organization 826 827 or organizations, as said Court shall determine, which are organized and operated 828 exclusively for charitable purposes.